The Senate

Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport Legislation Committee

Budget estimates 2010-11

© Commonwealth of Australia						
ISBN 978-1-74229-324-0						
This document was produced from comerc modes come managed by the County Devel and Device 1 Afficient						
This document was produced from camera-ready copy prepared by the Senate Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport Legislation Committee and printed by the Senate Printing Unit, Department of the Senate, Parliament House, Canberra.						

Membership of the Committee

Members

Senator Glenn Sterle ALP, Western Australia Chair

Senator Fiona Nash NPA, New South Wales Deputy Chair

Senator the Hon. Bill Heffernan LP, New South Wales

Senator Steve Hutchins ALP, New South Wales

Senator Kerry O'Brien ALP, Tasmania

Senator Rachel Siewert AG, Western Australia

Participating Members

Senator Abetz	Senator Cash	Senator Furner	Senator Milne
Senator Adams	Senator Colbeck	Senator Hanson-	Senator Minchin
Senator Back	Senator Collins	Young	Senator Moore
Senator Barnett	Senator Coonan	Senator Humphries	Senator Parry
Senator Bernardi	Senator Cormann	Senator Hurley	Senator Payne
Senator Bilyk	Senator Crossin	Senator Johnston	Senator Polley
Senator	Senator Eggleston	Senator Joyce	Senator Pratt
Birmingham	Senator Farrell	Senator Kroger	Senator Ronaldson
Senator Bishop	Senator Feeney	Senator Ludlam	Senator Ryan
Senator Boswell	Senator Ferguson	Senator Lundy	Senator Scullion
Senator Boyce	Senator Fielding	Senator Macdonald	Senator Troeth
Senator Brandis	Senator	Senator McEwen	Senator Trood
Senator B Brown	Fierravanti-Wells	Senator McGauran	Senator Williams
Senator C Brown	Senator Fifield	Senator McLucas	Senator Wortley
Senator Bushby	Senator Fisher	Senator Marshall	Senator Xenophon
Senator Cameron	Senator Forshaw	Senator Mason	

Committee Secretariat

Ms Jeanette Radcliffe, Secretary Ms Jenene James, Research Officer Ms Cassimah Mackay, Research Officer

PO Box 6100 Parliament House Canberra ACT 2600

phone: (02) 6277 3511 fax: (02) 6277 5811

e-mail: rrat.sen@aph.gov.au

internet: www.aph.gov.au/senate rrat

Table of Contents

Membership of the Committee	iii
List of Abbreviations	viii
Chapter 1	1
Introduction	1
Changes to departmental structures	2
Questions on Notice	2
Additional information	2
Note on references	2
Chapter 2	3
Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry portfolio	3
Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry	3
Corporate Services/Corporate Finance/Corporate Policy	3
Climate Change	4
Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Economics (ABA Bureau of Rural Sciences (BRS)	
Sustainable Resource Management	7
Australian Fisheries Management Authority (AFMA)	9
Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority (APVMA)	10
Trade and Market Access	10
Biosecurity Services Group	11
Rural Industries Research and Development Corporation (RIRDC)	13
Wheat Exports Australia (WEA)	14
Agricultural Productivity	15
Australian Wool Innovation (AWI)	16

Chapter 319
Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Local Government portfolio
Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Local Government
Corporate Services 19
Infrastructure Australia 20
Nation Building—Infrastructure Investment
Infrastructure and Surface Transport Policy
Australian Maritime Safety Authority (AMSA)
Policy and Research (incorporating the Bureau of Infrastructure, Transport and Regional Economics)
Local Government and Regional Development
Office of Northern Australia
Aviation and Airports28
Airservices Australia
Civil Aviation Safety Authority (CASA)29
Office of Transport Security
Australian Transport Safety Bureau (ATSB)
Appendix 135
Table of contents to proof Hansard transcripts35
Monday 24 May 201036
Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry portfolio
Tuesday 25 May 201037
Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry portfolio
Wednesday 26 May 201038
Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Local Government portfolio

\mathbf{T}	hursday 27 Ma	y 2010	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	39
	Infrastructure, portfolio		•	•			
App	endix 2	•••••	••••••	•••••	••••••	•••••	41
T	abled Documer	ıts	•••••	•••••	••••••	•••••	41
	Agriculture, Fis	sheries and F	orestry por	tfolio			41
	Infrastructure, portfolio		•	-			
App	endix 3	•••••	••••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	43
T	opic list – Agric	culture, Fish	neries and	Forestry portfo	olio	•••••	43
App	endix 4	•••••	••••••	••••••	•••••	•••••	49
	opic list – In overnment por					-	

List of Abbreviations

ABARE	Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Economics
AFMA	Australian Fisheries Management Authority
AMSA	Australian Maritime Safety Authority
ANAO	Australian National Audit Office
APVMA	Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority
AQIS	Australian Quarantine and Inspection Service
ARTC	Australian Rail Track Corporation
ATSB	Australian Transport Safety Bureau
AWI	Australian Wool Innovation
BRS	Bureau of Rural Sciences
CASA	Civil Aviation Safety Authority
CBD	Central business district
CEO	Chief Executive Officer
CCAMLR	Convention for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources
CCSBT	Commission for the Conservation of Southern Bluefin Tuna
CITES	Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora
COAG	Council of Australian Governments
CSIRO	Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation
DAFF	Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry
DEWHA	Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts
DITRDLG	Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Local Government
EC	Exceptional Circumstances
EPBC Act	Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999
ETS	Emissions Trading Scheme
FSANZ	Food Standards Australia New Zealand
FTA	Free trade agreement
GDP	Gross domestic product

GVP	Gross value of product
IOTC	Indian Ocean Tuna Commission
IRA	Import Risk Analysis
IVA	Independent Viability Assessment
LGRD	Local Government and Regional Development
MERI	Monitoring, evaluation, reporting and improvement
MOU	Memorandum of Understanding
MSIC	Maritime Safety Identification Card
NHT	National Heritage Trust
NRM	Natural resource management
OTS	Office of Transport Security
PAES	Portfolio Additional Estimates Statements
PBS	Portfolio Budget Statements
PIAPH	Product Integrity, Animal and Plant Health
PIMC	Primary Industries Ministerial Council
R&D	Research and development
RDA	Regional Development Australia
RIRDC	Rural Industries Research and Development Corporation
RLCIP	Regional and Local Community Infrastructure program
RPT	Regular public transport
SRM	Sustainable resource management
TFES	Tasmanian Freight Equalisation Scheme
US/USA	United States/United States of America
WEA	Wheat Exports Australia
WTO	World Trade Organization

Chapter 1

Introduction

- 1.1 On 11 May 2010, the Senate referred the following documents to the Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport Legislation Committee (the committee) for examination and report in relation to the Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry portfolio and the Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Local Government portfolio:
 - Particulars of proposed expenditure in respect of the year ending on 30 June 2011;
 - Particulars of certain proposed expenditure in respect of the year ending on 30 June 2011; and
 - Particulars of proposed expenditure in relation to the parliamentary departments in respect of the year ending on 30 June 2011.
- 1.2 The committee was required to report to the Senate on its consideration of 2010-2011 budget estimates on 22 June 2010.
- 1.3 The committee considered the Portfolio Budget Statements 2010-2011 for both portfolios at hearings on 24, 25, 26 and 27 May 2010. The hearings were conducted in accordance with the agreed agenda as follows:
 - Monday 24 May 2010 Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry portfolio.
 - Tuesday 25 May 2010– Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry portfolio.
 - Wednesday 26 May 2010 Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Local Government portfolio.
 - Thursday 27 May 2010 Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Local Government portfolio.
- 1.4 The committee heard evidence from Senator the Hon Nick Sherry, Assistant Treasurer, representing the Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry,² and Senator the Hon Stephen Conroy, Minister for Broadband, Communications and the Digital Economy, representing the Minister for Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Local Government. Evidence was also provided by Dr Conall O'Connell, Secretary of the Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry, Mr Mike Mrdak, Secretary of the Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional

¹ *Journals of the Senate*, No. 120, 11 May 2010, p. 3444.

² Senator the Hon John Faulkner, Minister for Defence, and Senator the Hon Ursula Stephens, Parliamentary Secretary for Social Inclusion and Parliamentary Secretary for the Voluntary Sector, also represented the Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry for short periods.

Development and Local Government, and officers representing the departments and agencies covered by the estimates before the committee.

1.5 The committee thanks the ministers, departmental secretaries and officers for their assistance and cooperation during the hearings.

Changes to departmental structures

- 1.6 The committee notes that a change has been made to the departmental structure of the Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Local Government since the 2009-10 Additional Estimates in February 2010. As at 15 February 2010, the Bureau of Infrastructure, Transport and Regional Economics was incorporated into a new Policy and Research division.
- 1.7 The committee notes that no changes have been made to the departmental structure for the Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry since the 2009-10 Additional Estimates.

Questions on Notice

1.8 In accordance with Standing Order 26, the committee is required to set a date for the lodgement of written answers and additional information. The committee requested that written answers and additional information be submitted by Wednesday 21 July 2010.

Additional information

- 1.9 Answers to questions taken on notice at the committee's budget estimates hearings will be tabled in the Senate in separate volumes entitled 'Additional information relating to the examination of budget estimates 2010-2011, May 2010, Senate Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport Legislation Committee'. Documents not suitable for inclusion in the additional information volumes will be available on request from the committee secretariat.
- 1.10 Answers to questions on notice received from the departments will also be posted on the committee's website at a later date.

Note on references

1.11 References to the Hansard transcript are to the proof Hansard; page numbers may vary between the proof and the official Hansard transcript.

Chapter 2

Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry portfolio

Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry

- 2.1 This chapter contains the key issues discussed during the 2010-2011 budget estimates hearings for the Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry portfolio. A complete list of all the topics discussed, and relevant page numbers, can be found at appendix 3.
- 2.2 The committee heard evidence from the department on Monday 24 May and Tuesday 25 May 2010. The hearing was conducted in the following order:
 - Corporate Services/Corporate Finance/Corporate Policy
 - Climate Change
 - Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Economics & Bureau of Rural Sciences
 - Sustainable Resource Management
 - Australian Fisheries Management Authority
 - Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority
 - Trade and Market Access
 - Biosecurity Services Group
 - Rural Industries Research and Development Corporation
 - Wheat Exports Australia
 - Agricultural Productivity
 - Australian Wool Innovation

Corporate Services/Corporate Finance/Corporate Policy

2.3 Once again, the committee raised concerns about the impact of the efficiency dividend on the department. The Secretary indicated that the budget is distributed across the department and the efficiency dividend is managed as part of the normal planning process coming into the new financial year. Last year, in addition to freezing the graduate program, the department gained efficiencies in travel and use of contractors and consultants. A number of corporate activities, including human resources, finance and media were restructured to provide centralised services. In the human resources area, this led to a reduction in the number of staff by 12 to 13.¹

¹ *Proof Estimates Hansard*, 24 May 2010, pp 4–5 and 6–7.

- 2.4 The committee was particularly interested in the department's graduate program and the costs associated with its resumption. The department explained that the additional cost of restarting the program is approximately \$1.7 million this financial year. This is a part-year cost as the graduates do not commence until the end of January 2011. The program will resume at its previous level, which includes around 60 graduates, plus trainees and Indigenous graduates. The department is looking at a total of 70 to 72, depending on how many suitable candidates it can attract.²
- 2.5 The committee raised the issue of answers to questions on notice from Additional Estimates in February 2010, as 15 answers remain outstanding. The committee noted that 'it makes it very difficult for us to follow things along when three months later we do not have the material' and asked about the source of the delay. The department advised that it has provided drafts for the Minister's consideration in relation to all of these answers.³ The secretary added that:

It is a question, I think, of whether or not the minister has found that information sufficient for him to be able to provide an answer, and that is a question for the minister.⁴

Climate Change

2.6 The committee expressed interest in the government's recent announcement of plans to conduct a pilot of drought reform measures in Western Australia, in partnership with the West Australian government. The department informed the committee that the pilot will run from 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011, with payments under one component, Building Farm Businesses, to continue until June 2013. The department explained further:

The pilot will be testing seven measures in response to the national drought policy review, and the measures are designed to move from a crisis management approach to risk management. The total cost of the pilot is \$22.9 million. The Australian government has allocated \$17.9 million and the West Australian government is contributing \$5 million. The pilot will not—and I think is an important point—affect regions in other parts of Australia that are currently exceptional circumstance declared, and the intention is that the pilot will inform ongoing work on drought policy reform. It will be reviewed in 2011 and will provide the basis for future consideration of a new national drought policy, including measures, implementation and discussion with state and territory governments.⁵

2.7 The committee heard that one of the measures in the pilot, Farm Planning, will provide state funding of up to \$7,500 each for farmers to undertake training to

² Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, p. 5.

³ *Proof Estimates Hansard*, 24 May 2010, pp 11–12.

⁴ Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, p. 12.

⁵ Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, p. 23.

develop or update a strategic plan for their farm business. The plan will identify priority activities to help improve the management and preparedness of their farm business to respond to future challenges. Farmers who have completed this step can then apply for a grant of up to \$60,000 under the Building Farm Businesses program, subject to meeting eligibility criteria.⁶

2.8 The committee expressed concern about the department's estimate of around 140 to 150 farmers taking up the Farm Planning option and moving on to apply for Building Farm Businesses, given that there are some 6,000 farmers in the region. The department explained that:

There is no expectation that all 6,000 of those will undertake planning processes during this period or that they will get to the stage where they are applying for grants...The expectation is that probably there will be a few hundred farmers who will produce strategic plans during this 12-month trial period—and it is a trial, obviously—and then the expectation is that perhaps 150 of those might get to the level of applying for grants. That is the basis, I guess, on which these numbers are in front of us. This is just obviously a trial of a future approach and what we want to make sure of is that this can work through. The minister has been quite clear that he wants to see this happen in a measured way so that we do not inadvertently create new problems having come out of a system which people have agreed is not adequate.⁷

- 2.9 The department added that it will be monitoring the program and keeping the government informed about the uptake.⁸
- 2.10 The committee raised concerns about the Tasmanian Community Forest Agreement grants, in view of a number of grant recipients going into administration or facing other financial difficulties. The committee was particularly interested in the following issues:
 - due diligence exercised by the government in disbursing the grants, including legal advice sought;
 - current advice about legal mechanisms available to the Commonwealth to recover grant monies from recipient companies in administration;
 - the asset retention period;
 - oversight, including field visits and milestone reporting;
 - the evaluation process;
 - current problems facing the forestry industry in Tasmania; and

⁶ *Proof Estimates Hansard*, 24 May 2010, pp 24–25.

⁷ Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, p. 31.

⁸ Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, p. 31.

• recent requests from the Tasmanian forest industry for assistance from the Commonwealth government.⁹

2.11 One member of the committee observed that:

The reason it becomes critical now, apart from verifying how Commonwealth money was spent, is that we have a situation where there is a discussion about another round of compensation in the Tasmanian forest industry. I think it is important that we find out that the money was spent as it was supposed to have been spent and, if companies have been onsold, that the asset value is returned to the Commonwealth before we go into another round.¹⁰

2.12 The department indicated that in order to provide the committee with comprehensive answers, it would have to take most of the questions on notice.¹¹

Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Economics (ABARE); and Bureau of Rural Sciences (BRS)

- 2.13 The committee sought information about ABARE's report on the Murray-Darling Basin which assessed the future impact of the Australian government's environmental water purchase program. ABARE advised that the report was commissioned by the Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts (DEWHA) at a cost of \$300,000.¹²
- 2.14 Some members of the committee were critical of a number of aspects of the report, including the limited number of field visits made to the area by ABARE officers and the type of modelling used which does not reflect what actually happens at the town and farm level. In response, ABARE officers indicated that they have done detailed surveys of irrigators throughout the Murray-Darling Basin over the last three years and have built up a good picture of the industry. ABARE explained that the modelling was not designed to look at the impacts on particular towns:

That was not the job we were asked to do. We were asked to look at what the basin level and catchment level impacts would be—and when I say 'catchment' I am talking about the CSIRO sustainable yield region impacts—of the first part of the water buyback program. Looking at what the impacts are on a particular town is a separate exercise and I would suggest that we would not have approached it using a general equilibrium model.¹⁴

⁹ *Proof Estimates Hansard*, 24 May 2010, pp 48–56.

¹⁰ Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, p. 50.

¹¹ *Proof Estimates Hansard*, 24 May 2010, pp 48–56.

¹² Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, pp 63 and 71.

¹³ Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, pp 63–65.

¹⁴ Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, p. 65.

2.15 In conclusion, the secretary emphasised that:

We stand by the report. The report had a certain purpose and was within certain limitations. We have provided that report and we stand by that report. The report did not pretend to be a report that would give you highly localised impact assessment of buybacks at the level that you have been talking about.¹⁵

Sustainable Resource Management

2.16 The committee sought detailed information on budget cuts to the Caring for our Country program. The department advised that funding for Landcare has been reduced by \$10.9 million over four years. This is made up of \$6.4 million from indexation costs and \$4.4 million from administration costs, to reduce duplication. The number of staff administering the program will be reduced by around seven. The department explained further:

...in the early years of any program it takes more resources to set a program up, put in place assessment processes, establish communications with and get information from people about what sorts of projects should be funded and those sorts of things. Landcare projects and Caring for our Country projects are being rolled out together. What we are planning to do is make more effective use of our staff in terms of things like monitoring projects, visiting projects, undertaking audits of compliance, making better use of automated contracting systems and automated acquittal systems and those sorts of things to reduce the administrative overhead on the program. ¹⁷

2.17 Some members of the committee expressed concern about reduced funding for the National Heritage Trust (NHT), another component of Caring for our Country program. The department indicated that NHT funding has been cut by \$70 million over four years. Savings are being phased in so that they are smallest in the first year and larger in latter years, when there is more uncommitted money. The department continued:

In the first year of the program, they were obtained largely by efficiencies in implementation costs, costs associated with monitoring and evaluation, project management and communications. In the latter years, they will have some effects on programs. The areas where it is currently estimated that there will be some reduction are areas like national reserves, World Heritage, Coastcare—excluding the Barrier Reef, as I mentioned—and some of the implementation costs associated with facilitators, largely looking at savings in travel and overhead costs. ¹⁸

¹⁵ Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, p. 69.

¹⁶ Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, p. 78.

¹⁷ Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, p. 78.

¹⁸ Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, pp 86–87.

- 2.18 The committee was particularly concerned about \$5 million in reduced funding for NHT monitoring and evaluation, given recurring criticism from the Auditor-General about the department's monitoring and evaluation processes for natural resource management projects. The department observed that \$8 million per year will be spent on monitoring and evaluation, 'which is still a significant amount of money'. The department was unable to provide further information about reductions in specific monitoring and evaluation activities as the details are still being finalised. ¹⁹
- 2.19 Continuing its interest from Additional Estimates, the committee sought an update on the department's involvement in the marine bioregional planning process. The department explained that its portfolio is involved in three areas:
 - the Bureau of Rural Sciences (BRS) is conducting an analysis of fisheries data for each bioregion, aimed at estimating the gross value of product (GVP) of commercial fishing displaced by proposed reserve networks. The BRS will also undertake a limited qualitative assessment of the impacts on recreational, Indigenous and charter fishers and fishing communities. Opportunities will be provided for industry and public consultation:
 - the department is part of a displaced activities working group at the Commonwealth level, which includes representatives from the fishing industry. This is developing a draft policy on the government's approach to activities displaced as a result of bioregional marine planning; and
 - the Australian Fisheries Management Authority (AFMA) attends stakeholder consultation workshops held by DEWHA. AFMA also discusses marine bioregional planning at its management advisory committees and provides regular updates on the marine bioregional planning process through its circulars to industry.²⁰
- 2.20 The committee was interested in the feedback received on the consultation process. The department indicated that the process has been extended a number of times in order to provide for additional consultation with industry and to allow industry time to consider and develop its advice back to government. The department added that:

It would probably be fair to say that the process, from an industry perspective, was too tight earlier in the process, but additional time has been granted in response to those concerns that industry has raised and the consultation periods that have been talked about have been extended beyond the statutory period, as provided under the environmental legislation.²¹

¹⁹ Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, pp 91–92.

²⁰ Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, p. 100.

²¹ Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, p. 102.

2.21 The department advised that the draft plans for the south-west, north-west and north bioregions are estimated to be released in the second half of 2010, with the east bioregion to follow in early 2011.²²

Australian Fisheries Management Authority (AFMA)

2.22 The committee asked about the impact on the fishing community of the reduced quotas set by the Commission for the Conservation of Southern Bluefin Tuna (CCSBT), down from 5,265 tonnes to 4,015 tonnes per year. AFMA advised that while it has not conducted any analysis of the impact, its officers are in regular contact with the industry in Port Lincoln through their management group. AFMA informed the committee that:

There was initially some reduction in staffing numbers that were needed, but how that has transpired through the season, I am unsure. The message we are getting from them is that the fish are good, they have caught them quite quickly out in the Bight and there is some potential for the price to be up a bit. So the market might move reasonably well, but they are still doing it reasonably tough. ²³

- 2.23 The committee requested an update on patrols by the *Oceanic Viking* in the Southern Ocean. AFMA indicated that three patrols were conducted this financial year, instead of the four scheduled patrols in the budget. The final patrol was rescheduled for use in northern waters as a matter of priority. AFMA officers were also deployed as observers on three patrols conducted by French authorities. The French rescheduled a fourth patrol to work on piracy in the Indian Ocean.²⁴
- 2.24 The committee was interested in AFMA's view on the impact of the reduced patrols. AFMA observed that 'there has been little impact on the deterrent effect', adding that 'we have not had a vessel sighted in Australian jurisdiction since June 2005'. However, there are a number of vessels of concern that operate outside Australian waters in Convention for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources (CCAMLR) waters. These unregulated vessels run flags of convenience and are not party to the CCAMLR convention. ²⁵ AFMA indicated that:

Over the last probably 10 years we have had a significant impact on the number of vessels that are operating illegally down there. Both we and the French have arrested a number and we have both destroyed quite a number of vessels. Us patrolling down there on a fairly regular basis I think keeps the process reasonably honest.²⁶

²² Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, p. 100.

²³ Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, p. 117.

²⁴ *Proof Estimates Hansard*, 24 May 2010, pp 118–119.

²⁵ Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, pp 119–120.

²⁶ Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, p. 120.

Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority (APVMA)

- 2.25 The committee sought an update on the investigation into two-headed fish at a Queensland hatchery. The APVMA advised that the Noosa Fish Health Investigation Taskforce, established by the Queensland government, is about to publish its final report into the fish, fingerling and larval deaths and larval deformities at a single hatchery. To date, interim reports have indicated that, while it is plausible that chemicals could have been a cause, they have not been able to establish a direct link. The APVMA is awaiting the final report to see if any regulatory action is needed in terms of chemicals. The APVMA emphasised that 'we are in a difficult situation to take regulatory action unless there is a proven link'.²⁷
- 2.26 The committee discussed significant reform processes that are underway, including the new single national regulatory framework for agricultural and veterinary chemicals, an initiative of the Council of Australian Governments (COAG). Officers advised that a framework document has been produced and endorsed by the Primary Industries Ministerial Council (PIMC):

What has to be developed then is a development and implementation plan. That will look at a series of options about how the single national framework can be implemented. We are due to go back to COAG by about the middle of June 2011 for COAG's acceptance or otherwise of that implementation plan and it will not be until that plan is implemented, sometime in 2012-13, depending upon the legislative requirements, that you will see any changes on the ground.²⁸

2.27 The committee asked about the Minister's decision to increase cost recovery fees by 10 per cent. Officers explained:

That is an interim decision pending the significant reform processes that are happening—we have mentioned two of them here—with a view that there will be another review of costs once the functions, format and structure of the APVMA are better clarified, around this time next year.²⁹

2.28 The committee heard that the regulations to give effect to this decision are currently being finalised. The additional revenue from the increase is around \$600,000 per year.³⁰

Trade and Market Access

2.29 The committee sought an update on the World Trade Organization (WTO) dispute with New Zealand in relation to apples. The department indicated that the draft report of the WTO panel has been released in confidence to the parties. The final

²⁷ *Proof Estimates Hansard*, 24 May 2010, pp 129–130.

²⁸ Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, p. 129.

²⁹ Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, p. 132.

³⁰ Proof Estimates Hansard, 24 May 2010, p. 132.

report is expected to be released in confidence on 27 May 2010, with public release to follow in early July. Officers explained that the government will have a right of appeal against the WTO decision and 'there is still the avenue open to us to try and reach a bilateral solution with New Zealand, should we choose to do that'. 31

- 2.30 The committee requested an update on negotiations with the Russian Federation to resolve suspensions of red meat exports from Australia. The department indicated that of the 19 plants suspended at various times, 16 have now been relisted, with one remaining suspended. Another two have decided not to reapply, as they are unlikely to meet the requirements.³²
- 2.31 In relation to kangaroo meat exports, the department advised that since the trade was suspended in August 2009, officers have been working with 'Australian industry and state regulatory authorities to develop a comprehensive submission back to Russia, addressing their concerns more holistically'. This submission was lodged in April 2010 and the next step is for a Russian audit team to come to Australia to review the systems operating within the establishments seeking relisting. ³⁴
- 2.32 The committee raised concerns about the quality of documentation for Australian exports into international markets. Specifically, the committee referred to the recent seizure of a shipment of seahorses from Tasmania by US authorities due to poor quality documentation. The department advised that it is an issue for the Australian Customs Service and DEWHA, as Customs certifies Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES) permitted exports on behalf of DEWHA. The committee was interested to know why DAFF officers do not play a role in the final certification process at the border, given their expertise in plant and animal matters. The department informed the committee that it is an issue between the US authorities and Customs in Tasmania, who are seeking to resolve the matter with assistance from the Australian embassy in the US. The committee heard that the seahorses will be donated to zoological schools.³⁵

Biosecurity Services Group

2.33 The committee expressed concern about the increase in charges for providing quarantine clearance services to Australia Post. The committee was interested to know whether there was any consultation between the department and Australia Post in determining the \$5 million increase. The Secretary indicated that he was not aware of any consultation between the department and Australia Post:³⁶

_

³¹ *Proof Estimates Hansard*, 25 May 2010, pp 8–9.

³² Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 16.

³³ Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 15.

³⁴ Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, pp 15 and 16–17.

³⁵ *Proof Estimates Hansard*, 25 May 2010, pp 6–8 and 24.

³⁶ Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 28.

The reduction in the subsidy to Australia Post was something that took place in the normal budgetary processes. The normal budgetary processes, as you know, often do not involve prior notice of budgetary decisions.³⁷

- 2.34 The department informed the committee that the current estimate for providing quarantine clearance services to Australia Post is approximately \$22 million per year.³⁸
- 2.35 The committee was interested in the work of the Expert Review Panel on Equine Influenza, which proposed four primary scenarios in relation to a national eradication response, for the consideration of the PIMC. The committee noted that following on from the panel's work, the department had put a fifth scenario to the horse industry, a limited form of voluntary vaccination against equine influenza. The department explained that:

...it was just to test a scenario which had not really been fleshed out in the work by the panel but which was quite relevant because we did not have a national response agreement in place.³⁹

- 2.36 The committee asked about industry support for a voluntary vaccination. The department indicated that there were a range of views on the issue, with the standardbred industry and the harness-racing industry opposed, while the Australian Racing Board was more positive. The PIMC is waiting to see whether an agreement can be reached across the different horse sectors by December, to accept a funding mechanism for an emergency response to eradicate the disease. If there is no agreement by that date, the PIMC has decided that steps should be taken to allow voluntary vaccination. 40
- 2.37 The committee discussed the export certification reform process in some detail, seeking an update on the ministerial taskforces for each of the six industry sectors. The department advised that each taskforce has completed a detailed project plan which has gone to the Minister. The Minister has responded and asked them to proceed. The committee heard that a cost recovery impact statement has been done as part of the planning process for each sector.⁴¹
- 2.38 Once again, the committee was interested in the import risk analysis (IRA) for the importation of apples from China. The committee asked whether *Drosophila suzukii*, a soft fruit crop pest, is being considered as part of the current IRA, given its recent identification as a newly occurring pest in the United States. The department indicated that while *Drosophila suzukii* exists in China, it has never been shown to be

_

³⁷ Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 29.

³⁸ *Proof Estimates Hansard*, 25 May 2010, p. 29.

³⁹ Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 35.

⁴⁰ *Proof Estimates Hansard*, 25 May 2010, pp 36 and 37.

⁴¹ *Proof Estimates Hansard*, 25 May 2010, pp 42–49.

on the pathway for harvest-ready apples. It is a pest that affects soft fruits such as strawberries, not hard skinned fruits such as apples and pears, unless they are rotten. In view of this, it is not being taken into account as part of the current IRA process.⁴²

2.39 The committee sought details of the process for ensuring that rotting fruit is not contained in a consignment. The department advised that:

We expect and make sure that the regimes that we implement are only for harvest-ready and export quality fruit...

There is going to be a preinspection before the fruit leaves. There is going to be competent authority certification of the quality of the fruit, and at this end there will be an inspection as well on the arrival of the fruit. This is a risk-based system. It is not an absolute certainty, but under those circumstances we have put in place a complete system to ensure that the apples will arrive here in good condition. The fact is that these pests are not known to attack to the fruit unless there is severely damaged or rotting fruit.⁴³

2.40 The committee requested an update on the IRA for beef. The department indicated that the IRA process for Canada and the United States started on 8 April, but the clock has stopped on Japan because of the recent foot and mouth disease outbreak. An expert panel to undertake the IRA has been announced, however, planning for incountry inspections has not yet been determined, as they are awaiting details of specific export locations within the two countries.⁴⁴

Rural Industries Research and Development Corporation (RIRDC)

2.41 The committee followed up on the impact of the RIRDC's reduced funding announced in last year's budget. The RIRDC confirmed that its budget was reduced by \$3 million per year over four years from 2009-10. The committee heard that the Minister had provided some guidance for the process:

The areas where we were asked to avoid cutbacks were in the areas of farm health and safety, emerging rural issues and the programs for which we receive a matched levy. During the year the board took the decision to try to build revenue by looking for other sources of revenue, for instance, the possibility of voluntary levies from some of the emerging industries and other sources. Over the course of the year, although we had the three million cut, which was met, we did secure additional income of \$3.2 million, which built our budget up. 45

2.42 The committee was interested in the origin of the additional income. The RIRDC explained that it came from a range of sources, including the DAFF portfolio,

⁴² *Proof Estimates Hansard*, 25 May 2010, pp 52–53.

⁴³ Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 53.

⁴⁴ Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, pp 67–68.

⁴⁵ Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 71.

some programs from Land and Water Australia, and a pastures program. The committee asked the RIRDC to provide, on notice, more detail about the individual projects and a breakdown of the funding.⁴⁶

2.43 The committee discussed a number of the RIRDC's research projects, including initiatives to help farmers reduce their carbon footprint. The RIRDC advised that the new Rural Industries portfolio will be focussed on developing alternative crops, such as native foods, wildflowers, olives and quinoa, which are more suitable for growing in areas of lower rainfall.⁴⁷

Wheat Exports Australia (WEA)

2.44 The committee was interested in the Productivity Commission review of wheat export marketing arrangements. In particular, the committee asked about WEA's reaction to the recommendation in the Productivity Commission's draft report that WEA should be dismantled. WEA stated:

Our position is: it is business as usual; it is business as usual until and if the government makes changes to the act and to our responsibilities. 48

- 2.45 WEA indicated that it has lodged a public submission in response to the draft report to clarify issues relating to the accreditation scheme and suggest areas for further investigation.⁴⁹ WEA tabled a copy of this submission during the hearing.⁵⁰
- 2.46 The committee raised concerns about access arrangements at ports, including complaints about the providers of export port terminal services and lack of fairness and transparency. WEA told the committee that:

I think it is fair to say that this issue is probably the biggest issue that the industry is discussing at the present time...There have been a number of articles about these issues. The Productivity Commission themselves have indicated that they believe that is the biggest issue that they are addressing in their review. Clearly these sorts of issues are subject to their review, as it was in the draft report, and I am sure they will be coming out with a little bit more information in their final report. ⁵¹

2.47 At the same time, WEA indicated that there has been a significant change since access undertakings were put in place on 1 October 2009, with general industry acknowledgment that there is greater transparency.⁵²

⁴⁶ *Proof Estimates Hansard*, 25 May 2010, pp 71 and 77.

⁴⁷ Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 71.

⁴⁸ Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 78.

⁴⁹ *Proof Estimates Hansard*, 25 May 2010, pp 78–79.

Tabled document no. 2: available on the committee's budget estimates 2010-11 web page

⁵¹ Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 83.

⁵² Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 83.

Agricultural Productivity

- 2.48 The committee sought information about reduced funding for the Regional Food Producers Innovation and Productivity Program. The department advised that the savings will be made over two years: \$1.5 million in 2010-11 and \$4 million in 2011-12. The savings have been redirected into two other initiatives, namely, Pacific Islands fisheries planning and a streamlined dispute resolution service for industry. ⁵³
- 2.49 The department is currently considering:

whether a third round of grants is the best option to deliver the program or whether the remaining funds could be delivered in some other way that might equally benefit the industry, but would be in a different sort of format.⁵⁴

- 2.50 The committee asked about the consultation process with industry. The department advised that initial consultations have been held with the Australian Food and Grocery Council, a major industry representative. No further formal consultations have been planned until a decision is taken about the delivery of the program.⁵⁵
- 2.51 The committee was interested in the department's involvement in the intergovernmental review of food labelling law and policy. The department indicated that it is funding half of the Commonwealth share of the review, which amounts to \$250,000. While the Department of Health and Ageing is the lead department with responsibility for formal oversight of the process, DAFF is part of the Food Regulation Standing Committee which set the terms of reference for the review, provides guidance to the review panel and will receive the review report.⁵⁶
- 2.52 The committee heard that over 6,000 submissions were received in the first round, followed by a second round of consultations and submissions. The department outlined the timetable for the review panel:

They will prepare a draft report that they plan, as I understand it, to road test with a small focus group. They will discuss their draft report with the Food Regulation Standing Committee and then present the final report to the Food Regulation Ministerial Council in December this year.⁵⁷

2.53 The review panel is due to report to COAG in early 2011.⁵⁸

⁵³ Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 87.

⁵⁴ Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 89.

⁵⁵ Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 89.

⁵⁶ Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, pp 90–91.

⁵⁷ Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 91.

⁵⁸ Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 91.

- 2.54 The committee asked about the negotiation of a new statutory funding agreement between the government and Australian Wool Innovation (AWI). The department advised that the current agreement with AWI expires on 30 June 2010 and it has been in discussions with AWI for the last six to eight months since the public release of an independent three year review of AWI's performance.⁵⁹
- 2.55 The department emphasised that while the performance review indicated a number of problems with the governance and management of AWI:

including that it did not consult well and did not plan its operations well, it concluded that AWI was not in breach of its obligations under that statutory funding agreement. From the regular six-monthly formal meetings that the department has with AWI under the provisions of the statutory funding agreement, it is our judgement as well that AWI has not formally breached the obligations under the statutory funding agreement. ⁶⁰

- 2.56 The department explained that the intent of the new statutory funding agreement with AWI is to reflect all of the recommendations made by the independent reviewer, including the recommendation that AWI undertake a 12-month review of its progress in implementing all of the other recommendations.⁶¹
- 2.57 The department indicated that while it is trying to make statutory funding agreements as consistent as possible across the board, given the history of AWI, the outcomes of the performance review and representations from stakeholders:

there will be a much stronger focus in the next iteration of the statutory funding agreement from AWI on accountability, governance arrangements and the ability of the government to more closely play an active role within the operations of AWI. ⁶²

Australian Wool Innovation (AWI)

2.58 The committee discussed a number of governance issues with AWI. The committee was particularly interested to know whether AWI would present three reports on its performance to the Minister, if he were to request them. The Chairman of AWI indicated that he would take legal advice and advice from the board before considering their release. The committee then asked whether the Minister would agree to request these documents. The Minister agreed to take this question on notice and refer it to the Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry for a response. 63

⁵⁹ Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 97.

⁶⁰ Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 98.

⁶¹ Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 98.

⁶² Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 99.

⁶³ *Proof Estimates Hansard*, 25 May 2010, pp 101–102.

- 2.59 The committee sought AWI's response to correspondence from a group of Italian companies to the Chairman of AWI which was leaked to the press. In the letter, they expressed disappointment about a recent visit of three AWI board members to Italy, claiming that the delegation did not express official AWI thinking. While AWI acknowledged that there was some 'in-house criticism' in this first letter, the Chairman indicated that it had been followed by a second letter in which these same Italian companies offered to do a joint marketing venture.⁶⁴
- 2.60 The committee asked if the board knew how the letter was leaked. AWI informed the committee that:

It is fair to say that we are doing an investigation. There have been a series of leaks from the company and the information that is being leaked is biased, inaccurate and misleading.⁶⁵

2.61 The committee sought an update on the development of alternatives to mulesing. AWI indicated that this is at the top of its research and development priorities, with \$3 million allocated in its operating budget. AWI observed that:

We have a commercial product in the market—the clips. We have another product, intradermals, which is getting very close, with registration at the APVMA at the moment, and towards the end of this year or early next year we might be doing some commercial trials. And, of course, the genetic work continues in the background: ultimately that is going to be our solution I think, but it takes time.⁶⁶

66 Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 112.

⁶⁴ *Proof Estimates Hansard*, 25 May 2010, pp 103–104, 107–109 and 111.

⁶⁵ Proof Estimates Hansard, 25 May 2010, p. 109.

Chapter 3

Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Local Government portfolio

Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Local Government

- 3.1 This chapter contains the key issues discussed during the 2010-2011 budget estimates hearings for the Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Local Government portfolio. A complete list of all the topics discussed, and relevant page numbers, can be found at appendix 4.
- 3.2 The committee heard evidence from the department on Wednesday 26 May and Thursday 27 May 2010. The hearing was conducted in the following order:
 - Corporate Services
 - Infrastructure Australia
 - Nation Building—Infrastructure Investment
 - Infrastructure and Surface Transport Policy
 - Australian Maritime Safety Authority
 - Policy and Research (incorporating the Bureau of Infrastructure, Transport and Regional Economics)
 - Local Government and Regional Development
 - Office of Northern Australia
 - Aviation and Airports
 - Airservices Australia
 - Office of Transport Security
 - Civil Aviation Safety Authority
 - Australian Transport Safety Bureau

Corporate Services

- 3.3 The committee began by discussing key initiatives of the department set out in the budget. The department Secretary, Mr Mike Mrdak, outlined these initiatives in three main areas:
 - infrastructure investment and long term infrastructure planning;
 - regulatory reform for a single national market reform; and
 - single national regulatory arrangements in transport.

These initiatives were discussed throughout budget estimates.

- 3.4 The Council of Australian Governments (COAG) has confirmed that the national regulators for maritime, heavy vehicles and rail safety will be fully operational by January 2013.¹
- 3.5 New government measures were discussed, including the \$996 million additional funding provided to the Australian Rail Track Corporation (ARTC).
- 3.6 The late receipt of answers to questions on notice was revisited, with the committee expressing its dissatisfaction as to delays in responses from the Additional Estimates round in February this year. The Minister suggested that answers may be delayed to ensure they are as complete and up to date as possible.²
- 3.7 The committee was informed that funding has been brought forward on a number of projects, to facilitate and speed their completion. A majority of Nation Building Economic Stimulus Plan projects are well advanced and will be completed by the end of the next financial year.³
- 3.8 The committee queried the amount of funding brought forward to this financial year under the Nation Building Program and Local Government and Regional Development (LGRD) projects. The Secretary emphasised that the funding brought forward was not necessarily the full amount to complete the projects but that it simply reflects the progress of the projects.⁴ The Secretary also detailed arrangements in place that enable the department to track the expenditure of the projects.⁵

Infrastructure Australia

3.9 The committee revisited the cost and location of Infrastructure Australia's Major Cities Unit office in Sydney's CBD and compared this with the department's Sydney office in Rosebery. Infrastructure Australia indicated that the CBD location is an important factor in being able to deal effectively with its clients. Whereas the Secretary explained that the department's Rosebery office is an operational location that is shared with the Australian Quarantine and Inspection Service (AQIS) and other Commonwealth agencies and is convenient for Office of Transport Security (OTS) staff when required at the airport.⁶

¹ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 4.

² Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 6.

³ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 4.

⁴ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 12.

⁵ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 12.

⁶ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, pp 24–25.

- 3.10 The committee questioned officers on projects relating to specific ports and rail networks, including their current progress, allocated funding and likely completion dates. The draft National Ports Policy was discussed: the principal element of the draft policy, while subject to final government consideration, is to encourage long term planning around port precincts. The Infrastructure Australia Council has also identified the development of international competitive gateways as one of its major themes. The work on these gateways is considered the first step towards the national freight network. The work on freight networks is well advanced and the ports and freight strategy will become one document. Infrastructure Australia hopes to release a draft National Freight Strategy in two to three months for public consultation, with a view to finalising it this calendar year.
- 3.11 The committee discussed the Aviation White Paper and whether or not it had achieved its original objectives. The Secretary explained that, in line with aviation industry needs, the Aviation White Paper contains, for the first time, long term objectives for the industry:

...it contains long-term objectives such as creating an investment climate for continuing aeronautical investment in aviation infrastructure. It contains long-term objectives in relation to continuing liberalisation and also long-term objectives in terms of safety regulation and the like, which are, for the first time, actually encapsulating what an Australian government objective is. ¹¹

3.12 These long term objectives apply to regional, as well as metropolitan, areas and officers noted additional funding in the budget for airport infrastructure in remote communities, stating:

...the government has clarified its position in relation to supporting in particular aviation to remote and rural areas through the way it has redesigned its program funding. 12

3.13 The policy platform includes provisions to support future growth in regional aviation. The government response to growth in these areas has been to:

...provide for that through removing unnecessary economic regulation, strengthening safety regulation and, as necessary, putting funding into aerodromes which would not be supported by RPT passengers to ensure

⁷ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, pp 38–42.

⁸ *Proof Estimates Hansard*, 26 May 2010, p. 29.

⁹ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 40.

¹⁰ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 40.

¹¹ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 33.

¹² Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 33.

essential service delivery. I think that is clearly encapsulated in the policy direction. ¹³

3.14 The committee questioned Infrastructure Australia on the issue of water supply. Officers said they are undertaking work to ensure there is a national framework for a national water plan but noted that progress was slow due to Infrastructure Australia's relatively small size. Officers were unable to give a timetable for the development of the plan but noted that community and industry consultation was planned and that officers are 'working towards producing material for the Infrastructure Australia Council this year'. Officers highlighted a need to understand the water security, supply and quality issues associated with regional Australia. 15

Nation Building—Infrastructure Investment

- 3.15 The committee sought an update on 17 rail projects funded under the Nation Building Economic Stimulus Plan. Seven of these are now complete, and officers listed the remaining projects and likely completion dates.¹⁶
- 3.16 The committee questioned the viability of allocating funding toward future projects that are reliant upon the mining industry, and in some cases, are not yet established mining areas. Officers explained that in the absence of this funding, the government would not have been in a position to have discussions with the specific coal producers because the ARTC would not have been in a position to commence the preliminary work with the businesses. This funding gave ARTC the opportunity to start those negotiations, which otherwise would not have been available.¹⁷
- 3.17 The committee asked officers to explain how the Commonwealth monitors projects. The department indicated that the States provide Nation Building Infrastructure Investment with monthly reports in accordance with the national partnership agreement. The reports detail the progress of projects and any difficulties encountered or risks that have been identified. States are also in weekly and sometimes daily contact with project managers and as a result officers describe the Commonwealth as being well apprised of progress.¹⁸
- 3.18 The committee asked about the department's response to the Australian National Audit Office's Audit report No. 31 2009-10: *Performance audit:* management of the AusLink Roads to Recovery Program which commented

¹³ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 33.

¹⁴ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, pp 34–35.

¹⁵ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 35.

¹⁶ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, pp 50–51.

¹⁷ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 55.

¹⁸ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 57.

specifically on the advancement of funding for Local Government Authorities. The department advised that it has accepted all of the ANAO's recommendations. Officers emphasised that the report found:

...overall that the programs, which had funded 20,000 individual projects through Australia at a cost of \$1.537 billion, were effectively administered and there is no evidence in the report to suggest systemic problems on the part of the department or local government authorities.¹⁹

- 3.19 Officers clarified that the report was not critical of the advancement of funds for the national projects mentioned earlier, as they are funds based on milestones as opposed to a set quarterly payment such as the Roads to Recovery Program.²⁰
- 3.20 The committee asked officers to detail the progress of particular road projects, specifically the pre-construction stages, funding allocated to sections of road and future plans for partially complete work.²¹ Officers also provided the committee with similar information, such as studies conducted and likely completion dates, for dedicated freight rail tracks.²²
- 3.21 Officers expressed difficulty responding to the committee's request to identify a standard cost per kilometre formula for rail and road projects. The department advised that this is because every project is different; some are completely new, others are upgrades or duplications and each project contains its own complexities.²³

Infrastructure and Surface Transport Policy

- 3.22 Officers outlined three national surface transport regulators currently in development:
 - Maritime safety;
 - Proposed Heavy Vehicle Regulator; and
 - Rail Safety Regulator.²⁴
- 3.23 Queensland will be the host jurisdiction for the Proposed Heavy Vehicle Regulator and South Australia will be the host jurisdiction for the Rail Safety Regulator.²⁵

¹⁹ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 64.

²⁰ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 64.

²¹ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, pp 78–88.

²² Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, pp 78–88.

²³ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 95.

²⁴ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, pp 109–110.

²⁵ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, pp 109–110.

- 3.24 Officers described the move towards national regulators as a move beyond harmonisation across the States. The term 'harmonisation' was used to describe the previous process where a model law was developed and each jurisdiction implemented it within the context of its own jurisdiction, which allowed the States to have variations on the same model law. The national regulator will not allow that to happen in the future, as the template law model says the host jurisdiction passes an agreed body of national law, which means the host law becomes the jurisdictions law as well. As a result, there will be no opportunities for variations to exist. This is expected to be finalised and implemented by 2013.
- 3.25 The Secretary referred to a Productivity Commission report which estimated the productivity benefit to the national economy from a nationalised scheme would be approximately \$2.4 billion per annum contribution to GDP.²⁷
- 3.26 The committee discussed complexities involved in heavy vehicle driver fatigue laws, noting they were designed to improve safety but do not allow for flexibility. Officers explained the difficulty in allowing for flexibility when designing a national regulatory system:
 - ...there is a real issue in relation to how in a regulatory system you can create flexibilities, particularly where there are compliance and enforcement issues that have to go with it. One of the things that needs to be contemplated is, if you are going to allow what might, for example, in some cases be constituted as a reasonable steps defence—that is, it was only a another 45 minutes—how long is the only? Is it only another 15 minutes that you are allowed or is it another 45 minutes or is it another hour and 15 minutes? Does that mean that the limits for driving hours under that regime are now 16 hours and 15 minutes rather than 15 hours? I think there are some very real issues in compliance and enforcement regimes. Whether it is about fatigue or the loaded weight of a truck or many other dimensions, there are very real questions about how you build judgment into compliance and enforcement regimes.
- 3.27 The committee revisited the Tasmanian Freight Equalisation Scheme, discussing the different bodies responsible and complexities in their differing requirements. A review of this scheme is scheduled for 2011-12. Officers advised that there has been a general improvement in the backlog of claims:
 - ...[in] the latter part of last year the numbers were more in the order of 1,500...We are down to 200.³⁰

²⁶ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 110.

²⁷ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 110.

²⁸ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, pp 115–116.

²⁹ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 116.

³⁰ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 122.

Officers emphasised that Centrelink is responsible for the processing of this backlog.

Australian Maritime Safety Authority (AMSA)

- 3.28 The committee questioned AMSA about new protocols that create a supplementary fund to compensate victims of oil pollution. The committee was informed that this does not replace the existing fund but makes an additional compensation fund available.³¹
- 3.29 Officers detailed the use of dispersants in oil spills. Tests are done to establish toxicity levels of dispersants, which must meet the nationally agreed standard. The type of dispersant used is an evolving science. As further research and product development is carried out, AMSA will continue to monitor toxicity limits and improvements in available products.³²
- 3.30 The committee asked about the current staffing levels at AMSA and the possible impact of any freeze on recruitment. AMSA officers expressed a deep reliance on their staff, stating that a recruitment freeze would likely:
 - ...severely curtail our ability to deliver national safety programs and to deliver an effective search and rescue effort.³³
- 3.31 Officers then went on to give details of AMSA's workload over the last 12 months, including the 619 lives saved by the search and rescue team. Officers described AMSA as a
 - ...very, very busy organisation dependent on its people to deliver high-quality but very technical activities.³⁴

Policy and Research (incorporating the Bureau of Infrastructure, Transport and Regional Economics)

- 3.32 The committee asked officers to provide a general overview of current research projects. Officers described the main areas of interest as:
 - Infrastructure investment;
 - Regulatory reform and pricing;
 - Road safety; and
 - City and corridor planning and forecasting.
- 3.33 In particular, the road safety research is currently evaluating how successful the Black Spot Program has been. The criteria for evaluating this looks at a number of

³¹ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 123.

³² *Proof Estimates Hansard*, 26 May 2010, pp 124–126.

³³ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 131.

³⁴ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 131.

projects to see what types of treatments have been the most successful, identifying the number of accidents and fatalities before and after.³⁵

3.34 Officers also informed the committee of the published monthly updates they produce on road deaths in Australia. These monthly reports provide a breakdown by age, gender and the types of vehicles involved.³⁶

Local Government and Regional Development

- 3.35 The committee questioned officers on the assessment procedure for election commitments. Officers explained they followed '[T]he normal process for election commitments—and this is the recommendation of the ANAO officers'. This meant combining the election commitments into their own program, providing draft guidelines for approval, then undertaking an assessment of each of those projects.³⁷
- 3.36 The committee asked officers to detail the projects and whether or not Independent Viability Assessments (IVAs) were performed for each of these. Officers explained that IVAs were performed on a small number but not on all 92 projects. The vast majority were undertaken by State or local government entities and as such, a decision was made early on in the program that the projects did not require an IVA. Those selected to undergo an IVA were chosen on the basis of a risk assessment, which is essentially an examination of the viability of the project, its future viability and the organisation's capacity to deliver the project. The committee was informed that all IVAs were done by an external contractor.³⁸
- 3.37 Officers provided the committee with a list of specific projects by name and updated the committee on their completion dates and allocated funding.³⁹
- 3.38 The committee sought information on funding arrangements for Regional Development Australia (RDA). Officers explained that while the Commonwealth and States both contribute funding, in some instances the States provide office accommodation and support as well as cash funding.⁴⁰
- 3.39 The roles of RDA committees were discussed, with officers summarising them into five key areas:
 - engaging with the local community;
 - regional planning;

³⁵ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 132.

³⁶ Proof Estimates Hansard, 26 May 2010, p. 133.

³⁷ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 5.

³⁸ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 6.

³⁹ *Proof Estimates Hansard*, 27 May 2010, pp 7–9.

⁴⁰ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, pp 13–14.

- coordination of whole of government activities;
- promotion of government programs; and
- community and economic development.
- 3.40 It was explained that while RDAs have specific requirements on which to report, their activities are not monitored on a day-to-day basis.⁴¹
- 3.41 The committee also asked about specific funding and organisational structures for the following:
 - Better Regions Program;
 - Australian Council of Local Government;
 - Australian Centre of Excellence for Local Government; and
 - Local Government Reform Fund.

Office of Northern Australia

- 3.42 The committee welcomed Ms Robyn Fleming, recently appointed as the General Manager of the Office of Northern Australia. Ms Fleming updated the committee on staffing structure and funding allocations.⁴²
- 3.43 The committee was informed of the 29 projects undertaken by the Office of Northern Australia, which fall broadly into four areas: education, health, housing and community services.
- 3.44 Officers explained in detail the East Kimberley Development Package and listed both current and completed projects:
- Wyndham Memorial Swimming Pool Upgrade
- Hostel oval in Kununurra
- Wyndham Picture Gardens
- Public accessible all-tides jetty upgrade
- Kununurra Airport Terminal upgrade
- Kununurra Airport Patient Transfer Facility
- Warmun Early Learning Centre
- Wyndham health facilities refurbishment
- Occupiable housing stock for health staff
- Kununurra Hospital Expansion Pack

⁴¹ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 15.

⁴² Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, pp 24–27.

- Residential rehabilitation facility in Wyndham
- 3.45 Officers emphasised that a high level of coordination between the Western Australian Government, the Commonwealth Government and local communities was required to achieve these results.⁴³ While both the Commonwealth and State contribute funding, amounts vary from project to project.⁴⁴
- 3.46 Officers also noted that contractors are required to demonstrate what they are doing to encourage, support and deliver Indigenous employment.⁴⁵

Aviation and Airports

- 3.47 The committee was informed of legal obligations in place for privatised airports, which include how they consult in terms of their strategic planning documents.
- 3.48 Officers discussed the Aviation White Paper, as the government has proposed further significant amendments, including improved planning and consultation processes with the community and local and state and territory governments. The White Paper also sets out key expectations for improving the relationship between airport operators and the community. These proposed measures will build upon arrangements that some airports already have in place. In addition to the proposed measures, officers noted that the *Airports Act 1996* requires statutory periods of public consultation on master plans for a 60 day period. The proposed measures are plans for a 60 day period.
- 3.49 Officers provided the committee with information on the Remote Aviation Infrastructure Fund program, detailing funding allocated and explaining their processes. This program has allocated \$8.1 million to rectify deficiencies in facilities in aerodromes in remote Aboriginal areas. Technical reports are being assessed and funding over the next two and a half years will seek to ensure that remote airstrips meet regulatory requirements. Officers advised that 68 remote airstrips will benefit from this project. 48

Airservices Australia

3.50 Officers informed the committee of a new procedure being implemented at Sydney airport that allows for more precise flight paths, which then reduces fuel burn and aircraft flying time. This has the potential to reduce aircraft noise and distribute

⁴³ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 36.

⁴⁴ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 35.

⁴⁵ *Proof Estimates Hansard*, 27 May 2010, pp 36–37.

⁴⁶ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, pp 50–51.

⁴⁷ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 52.

⁴⁸ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 54.

noise more evenly over areas. The committee was informed that Australia is regarded as a leader in this area.⁴⁹

- 3.51 Officers outlined the technicalities involved in implementing this new procedure, explaining that it is a satellite based system. Officers also emphasised Australia's safety record and attributed it to the extensive trialling and testing performed prior to the implementation of new procedures. The technology is described as 'still in its early days' and the implementation will occur in stages.⁵⁰
- 3.52 The committee requested an update on the harmonisation of civil and military air traffic management. Officers informed the committee that an in-principle agreement has been reached with the Royal Australian Air Force.⁵¹
- 3.53 Officers also updated the committee on the use of Wide Area Multilateration in Tasmania. This technology computes aircraft positions in three dimensions, making it possible to track the position of every aircraft that is fitted with a transponder. Officers explained that this raises surveillance technology to a level Australia has not had before. ⁵²
- 3.54 The appointment of a Noise Ombudsman was discussed in detail, with officers highlighting the qualities and experience needed for the position but emphasising that the details of the position are currently being worked out. The committee asked about the ombudsman's specific responsibilities. Officers explained the position will oversee the handling of aircraft noise complaints, conduct independent reviews of noise complaint handling and make recommendations for improvement where necessary. Officers emphasised the need for transparency and independence within the role.⁵³

Civil Aviation Safety Authority (CASA)

- 3.55 The committee raised concerns about aircraft noise and safety expressed by community groups. CASA officers responded by providing pilot training statistics and preparation for future growth in this area with regards to safety.⁵⁴
- 3.56 Officers explained that CASA understands the air safety implications of growing airports and is well equipped to make reforms now and in the future. Officers informed the committee of steps taken recently to prevent the likelihood of mid-air collisions and accidents at airfields in Australia. These steps include limiting the

⁴⁹ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, pp 64–65.

⁵⁰ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, pp 64–66.

⁵¹ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 66.

⁵² Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, pp 66–67.

⁵³ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 69.

⁵⁴ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, pp 76–77.

number of aircrafts under the control of a single air traffic controller and spreading the scheduled training flight times evenly throughout the day to eliminate peak periods of traffic.⁵⁵

- 3.57 To better understand these conditions, officers explained the different classes of airspace and what each class requires of the pilot and air traffic controllers. Officers noted some training aerodromes are now located on the outer edges of cities as a result of urban encroachment and highlighted the need for future airport development and planning to work closely with the government.⁵⁶
- 3.58 The committee asked about CASA's staffing levels and the likely effect of a recruitment freeze. Officers indicated that a recruitment freeze would make it difficult to complete the program which is currently outlined in their corporate plan.⁵⁷
- 3.59 The committee questioned officers on the legality of charter flights operating in certain areas and what CASA deemed unsafe for these particular flights. Officers explained air operator certificates need to comply with legislative requirements. Officers outlined concerns of a specific charter flight operating out of Tasmania, stating that:

Our concern was twofold around these operations. One was whether they were conducted with the right level of safety. In other words, to operate that far over the water, were the aircraft suitably equipped with survival equipment? Were the pilots suitably qualified? Were the right sort of precautions taken around the planning of that operation and what they intended to do?

We had concerns about two parts of this operation. One was going outside of the 12-nautical mile limit. We had another concern about one particular operator where it would appear that the chief pilot, who is a named person within the air operator certificate system, had been bypassed by the directors of one of the companies and a flight had been authorised without his knowledge. That caused us to conduct an investigation in much more depth and to see what the probity was around that. We have since established that that organisation has many diverse pilot bases. The chief pilot has senior pilots at each of these bases. He does not necessarily know all of these flights. ⁵⁸

3.60 Officers clarified that if an operator is not authorised to conduct international operations, 12 nautical miles is the extent of the distance from the coastline they can travel lawfully.⁵⁹

⁵⁵ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, pp 76–77.

⁵⁶ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, pp 78–79.

⁵⁷ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 91.

⁵⁸ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 99.

⁵⁹ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 101.

Office of Transport Security

- 3.61 The committee began questioning the Office of Transport Security about the introduction of compulsory passenger and baggage screening for aircrafts with a maximum take-off weight of 20,000 kilos by July 2012. Officers informed the committee that they were working with regional aviation industry and individual airports affected by this decision on the operational requirements of these security measures. Officers explained the consultation process and reported that overall, the responses to these measures were positive.⁶⁰
- 3.62 Officers explained that the cost to implement this measure varies and depends on factors such as passenger numbers and airport size and location. Officers reiterated that the government will provide budget funding for these measures in regional airports in order to minimise the cost which would otherwise be absorbed by individual travellers.⁶¹
- 3.63 Officers emphasised that many decisions involving price for consumers are:
 - ...airline decisions based upon their analysis of the sensitivity of the market and the supply and demand issues that pertain to those individual airports. It is very hard to make a determination. At the moment, what costs they absorb and what costs are passed on are decisions made by airlines, and they do that in conjunction with the airports that are affected. 62
- 3.64 The committee questioned officers on the methodology used for airport security risk assessments. It was explained that assessments are very much driven by:
 - ...the fact that the types of aircraft being used, the distance they can travel, the weights of those aircraft and the numbers of passengers carried goes to the heart of the issue of the likelihood of them being potentially a target themselves—in other words, the aircraft is blown up in some way, shape or form—or being used as a weapon, a la 9-11. 63
- 3.65 The committee discussed the legal regulation of access to cockpits. Officers advised that previous regulations allowed the pilot in command to control access to the cockpit. The regulations currently before parliament make it a strict liability offence for the pilot in command to ensure that the cockpit door is locked. However, the defence provisions of the legislation provide that if the pilot is protecting the safety, security and operations of the aircraft, the crew, the cargo, the passengers or an airport, the pilot is not committing an offence.⁶⁴ Officers explained strict liability offences:

_

⁶⁰ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 104.

⁶¹ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, pp 105–106.

⁶² Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 106.

⁶³ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, pp 106–107.

⁶⁴ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 108.

In the criminal law it is necessary to prove two things to establish an offence. One is the mental element of the offence, the intention to do so. The other element is the act of doing so. What strict liability does is take away such as the necessity to prove the mental element of defence. It is like if you get into your car and do not put your seatbelt on. 65

3.66 The committee questioned officers about the Maritime Safety Identification Card (MSIC). Officers explained that 137 offences have been added to the scheme which will preclude people from holding these cards. These include:

...offences such as murder, the use of prohibited explosives, making of a bomb hoax, kidnapping, and bribing a government official.⁶⁶

- 3.67 Officers advised that the additional offences only apply when the current MSIC holders renew their MSIC cards. The appeal process for someone who is rejected remains the same.⁶⁷
- 3.68 The committee revisited the use of body scanners. Officers informed the committee that the department is having ongoing discussions with the Privacy Commissioner regarding the use of body scanners. Officers explained that the Privacy Commissioner will play an integral role in finalising the program guidelines and in the roll out of equipment. Officers stated that while there are likely to be delays due to the slower facilitation rates through body scanners than through a walk-through metal detector:

The experience overseas has been that, as passengers become more used to going through body scanners, the time does actually reduce. Quite often a communications campaign is effective with that. That is something we are taking into account for the program design. ⁶⁹

Australian Transport Safety Bureau (ATSB)

- 3.69 The committee questioned officers on the development of a national investigation framework for rail and maritime safety which has been allocated funding in the budget. Officers explained that the national investigation framework is part of a broader package of transport reforms, with the creation of a single regulatory regime for rail safety. There are a number of operational issues to be resolved before it can be implemented including:
 - coming to an arrangement that makes the existing state jurisdictions comfortable that there is the appropriate selection of rigour and investigation;

⁶⁵ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 108.

⁶⁶ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 114.

⁶⁷ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 115.

⁶⁸ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 117.

⁶⁹ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 118.

- managing the transitional arrangements; and
- getting people with appropriate skills and background to deal with the likely growth that is expected to come with this framework.
- 3.70 The committee questioned officers on the likely completion date, considering these challenges. The Secretary provided an insight into the progress so far:

Over the last year or so we have seen levels of cooperation and commitment to this process which I have not seen before in a reform process. I think that is a credit to all the officers, including a large number of officials in my department who I think have done an excellent job in leading this work, and Mr Dolan's organisation as well...There are some very hard issues here in terms of regulatory standardisation and performance of these functions. We meet regularly; we have working groups. We are now setting up these project officers for the rail and heavy vehicle regulators.⁷⁰

3.71 The committee questioned officers on current staffing numbers and staff turnover for previous years. Officers informed the committee that once full agreement from the States on growth in surface transport is reached, the ATSB would be looking at considerable growth in staffing. A recruitment freeze would have a gradual effect on the organisation and ATSB would:

...probably find that, over time, we would either have to slow down some of our investigation work or not undertake one or two investigations we would otherwise have looked at. ⁷¹

Senator Glenn Sterle Chair

⁷⁰ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 120.

⁷¹ Proof Estimates Hansard, 27 May 2010, p. 122.

Table of contents to proof Hansard transcripts

Budget estimates 2010–2011

Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry portfolio

Monday 24 May 2010

Tuesday 25 May 2010

Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Local Government portfolio

Wednesday 26 May 2010

Thursday 27 May 2010

Monday 24 May 2010

Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry portfolio

Ha	ansard page
In attendance	1
Corporate Services/Corporate Finance/Corporate Policy	4
Climate Change	19
Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Economics & Bureau of Resources	ural 63
Sustainable Resource Management	76
Australian Fisheries Management Authority	113
Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority	128

Tuesday 25 May 2010

Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry portfolio

	Hansard page
In attendance	1
Trade and Market Access	4
Biosecurity Services Group	24
Rural Industries Research and Development Corporation	70
Wheat Exports Australia	77
Agricultural Productivity	85
Australian Wool Innovation	101

Wednesday 26 May 2010

Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Local Government portfolio

	Hansard page
In attendance	1
Corporate Services	3
Infrastructure Australia	24
Nation Building—Infrastructure Investment	47
Infrastructure and Surface Transport Policy	107
Australian Maritime Safety Authority	124
Policy and Research	132

Thursday 27 May 2010

Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Local Government portfolio

	Hansard page
In attendance	1
Local Government and Regional Development	3
Office of Northern Australia	24
Aviation and Airports	50
Airservices Australia	64
Civil Aviation Safety Authority	75
Office of Transport Security	102
Australian Transport Safety Bureau	119

Tabled Documents

Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry portfolio

Documents tabled at hearing on Monday, 24 May 2010

- 1. Copy of email sent to Senators re Basa fish imported from Vietnam, dated 2 April 2010 tabled by Senator the Hon Ian Macdonald
- 2. Wheat Exports Australia, Submission to the Productivity Commission's Draft Report on the *Wheat Export Marketing Act 2008* and the *Wheat Export Accreditation Scheme 2008* tabled by Mr Peter Woods, CEO, Wheat Exports Australia

Documents tabled at hearing on Tuesday, 25 May 2010

- 3. Answers to questions taken on notice during the hearing on 24 May 2010, in relation to Corporate Finance, Corporate Services and Climate Change Division tabled by Dr Conall O'Connell, Secretary, DAFF
- 4. Correspondence to Australian Wool Innovation from Italian manufacturer, Paolo Zegna, dated 25 March 2010 tabled by Mr Walter Merriman, Chairman, Australian Wool Innovation

Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Local Government portfolio

Documents tabled at hearing on Wednesday, 26 May 2010

1. Media release 005/2010 by the Hon Andrew Robb AO MP, 'Tanner's numbers in tatters', dated 20 May 2010 – tabled by Senator the Hon Stephen Conroy

Documents tabled at hearing on Thursday, 27 May 2010

2. Twelve media statements by the Hon Anthony Albanese MP, dated 21 May and 26 May 2010 – tabled by Senator the Hon Stephen Conroy

Topic list

Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry portfolio

Monday 24 May 2010

Division/Agency and Topic	Proof Hansard page reference
Corporate Services/Corporate Finance/Corporate Policy	4–19
Efficiency dividend	4–5, 6–10
Graduate recruitment program	5–6
Staffing	7–10, 14–16
Resourcing for biosecurity	11
Outstanding answers to questions on notice from additional estimates	11–13, 14
Contingency planning for locust plague	13
Campaigns and advertising	16–18
Supplier-related expenses	18
Discretionary grants programs	19
Climate Change	19–62
Exceptional Circumstances applications and disaster relief	19–23
Pilot of drought reform measures in Western Australia	23–40, 41–42
Exit grants	40–41
Emissions accounting/Domestic Offsets Integrity	42–43, 45–46, 47
Committee/National Carbon Offset Standard	
Research into soil carbon; biochar; nitrous oxide; and livestock emissions	43–44, 46, 47–48
Interaction within DAFF between work on climate change and food security	44–45
Tasmanian Community Forest Agreement grants	48–50, 55–56
Current problems impacting on the forestry industry in	50–55
Tasmania; industry requests for assistance from the Commonwealth government	
Proposal for World Heritage nomination of Tasmanian forests including the Upper Florentine, the Weld, parts of the Upper Tiers and the Tarkine	55
Forest industry database	56
Forest Industries Climate Change Research Fund	56–57
Illegal logging	57–60
Interaction with DEWHA on the review of the EPBC Act	60–61
Australian Forestry Standard/Forest Stewardship Council accreditation	61–62

Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource	62–76
Economics and Bureau of Rural Sciences	60 60 71
Report on the Murray-Darling Basin assessing the future	62–69, 71
impact of the Australian government's environmental water	
purchase program	
ABARE's projections on the use of solar energy in Australia	69
Oil market forecasts	69–70
Forestry projections and trends in the global demand for	70–75
timber products	
Consolidation of the beef market	75–76
Sustainable Resource Management (SRM)	76–113
Caring for our Country, including Landcare and the National	76–98, 106–108
Heritage Trust	
Environmental Stewardship Program	87–90, 97
Staffing and budget for the fisheries unit	98–99, 104
Marine bioregional planning process	100–104
Statutory fishing rights	102–103, 113
Marine Protected Areas Program	104, 105–106, 112–
	113
Recfish	108
Recreational Fishing Advisory Committee	108–109
Project to collect recreational fishing data; Recreational	109–110
Fishing Industry Development Strategy	
2010 aerial survey results for southern bluefin tuna	110–111
Email sent to Senators about Basa fish imported from	111
Vietnam	
Indian Ocean Tuna Commission (IOTC)	111–112
Australian Fisheries Management Authority	114–128
Bycatch of Australian sealions	114–115
Staffing	115, 125
Documentary The End of the Line	115–117
Work done by Dr Worm and Professor Hilborn on global fish	116
stocks and resources	
Status of Commission for the Conservation of Southern	117–118
Bluefin Tuna (CCSBT) quotas	
Appointment of new members to the Southern Bluefin Tuna	118
Management Advisory Committee	-
Patrols by the <i>Oceanic Viking</i>	118–121, 126–127
Prosecution of illegal fishermen	121–122
Eastern Tuna and Billfish Fishery	122
Impact of Coral Sea Conservation Zone	123–124
Trials with industry using cameras to gather observer data	124
Impact of trawl fishing and warp cables on albatross	124–125, 127
Illegal foreign fishing	125–126
mogai totoigh mining	123 120

Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority	128–133
Budget, staffing and workload	128
Single national regulatory framework	128–129, 132, 133
Legal costs	129
Update on the investigation into two-headed fish at a	129–130
Queensland hatchery	
APVMA's role in conducting investigations and auditing state	130–131
authorities	
Review of carbendazim	131
Review of APVMA	131–133
Cost recovery increase and reform	132–133

Tuesday 25 May 2010

Division/Agency and Topic	Proof Hansard page
	reference
Trade and Market Access	4–24
Trans-Pacific Free Trade Agreement	4–6
Quality of documentation for Australian exports into	6–8
international markets, including the seizure of a shipment of	
Tasmanian seahorses in the US due to inaccurate certification	
WTO dispute with New Zealand in relation to apples	8–12
Negotiation of free trade agreements with China and Japan	12–15
Red meat exports to the Russian Federation and negotiations	15–17
to resolve suspensions of kangaroo meat exports	
Live export trade, including negotiation of MOUs with	18–19, 21–22, 23–24
Indonesia and Middle Eastern countries; Live Trade Animal	
Welfare Partnership	
Projects under Agriculture Advancing Australia and	19–20
International Agricultural Cooperation	
Initiatives to increase Australia's domestic and export	20–21
agricultural markets	
Impact of the proposed changes to R&D tax laws	21
Negotiations with Korea to gain market access for Tasmanian	22–23
cherries	
Negotiations with India to regain market access for live	23
seafood products	
Biosecurity Services Group	24–70
Seizure of a shipment of Tasmanian seahorses in the US due	24
to inaccurate certification	
Groper die-off in Queensland and possible link to bacterial	24–25
infection from imported frozen bait	

Accreditation	77–78, 79–80
Wheat Exports Australia	77–85
Plant gene patents and intellectual property issues	75–77
Rural Women's Mentoring Program	74–75
Staffing	71, 74
Research projects	71–73, 74
Funding and impact of budget cuts	70–71, 74, 77
Rural Industries Research and Development Corporation	70–77
Locust control	69–70
IRA for beef	67–68
Importation of bovine semen and embryos	66–67
Hendra virus vaccine	66
Horse quarantine fees	65–66
Eastern Creek and Spotswood quarantine stations	65, 66, 68
IRA for apples from China	54–61
apples in China	FA <1
Impact of <i>Drosophila suzukii</i> on soft fruit in USA; impact on	51–54, 70
stonefruit from USA; prawns from Asia; apples from USA	
Import Risk Analyses (IRA) for freshwater ornamental fish;	50–51
Export certification reform process	42–49
Update on response to the Beale review	41–42
Raw milk cheese	40–41
Imported uncooked marinated green prawns	37–39
Equine influenza vaccination	35–37
Imported olive oil	34–35
Chemical residue testing of prepackaged imported honey	33–34
AQIS certification of meat exports	30–33
Banana imports	30
to Australia Post	
Increased charges for providing quarantine clearance services	27–30, 49–50
Myrtle rust outbreak in NSW	26–27
suspension of bee imports; bumblebees (Bombus terrestris)	
beetle; Varroa destructor mite; colony collapse disorder;	
Bees: Asian honeybee outbreak around Cairns; small hive	25–26, 61–64

Intergovernmental review of food labelling; 'Grown in	90–93
Australia' labelling; country of origin labelling	
Labelling of King Island beef; recommendations of Senate	93–95
Select Committee's report into meat marketing	
Murray Darling Basin Plan and impact of water buybacks	95–97
Negotiation of new statutory funding agreement with	97–99, 100
Australian Wool Innovation (AWI)	
National Wool Declaration and mulesing	99–100
Australian Wool Innovation	101–113
Governance issues	101–103, 106–107,
	109–110
Productivity Commission review of R&D corporations	103
Correspondence to AWI from Italian companies	103–104, 107–109,
	110, 111
Strategic plan and operating plan	104–105
Marketing	105–106
National Wool Declaration and mulesing	111, 112
North American market for Australian wool	112

Topic list

Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Local Government portfolio

Wednesday 26 May 2010

Division/Agency and Topic	Proof Hansard page
	reference
Corporate Services	4–24
Secretary's opening statement	4
Staffing numbers	5
Receipt of answers to questions on notice	5–6
Accelerated projects	7
Funding brought forward for local government	7–11, 19, 21–23
Funding under the Nation Building Program	7–12, 23
Untied financial assistance grants	10, 19–21
Discussions with Treasury, Finance and Prime Minister &	12–13
Cabinet	
Accelerated commencement of the Douglas Arterial road	14–16
Project milestones	14–15
Status update of the Ipswich Motorway	15–18
Pot plants in the Minister's office	24
Infrastructure Australia	24–47
Major Cities Unit office; comparison with the Rosebery office	24–26, 28
Oakagee Port	26–29, 31
Draft bankable feasibility study produced for the government	28
of Western Australia	
Draft National Ports Policy and specific port projects	28–40
Aviation White Paper	32–34
Barraba water supply	34–35
Infrastructure Australia's progress on long-term water	34–35, 37–38
security, supply and quality	
Staffing numbers	35–36
Development of the national infrastructure pipeline	36
Infrastructure Australia Fund	36
Building Australia Fund	36
Seven major themes for Infrastructure Australia Council	38
Issues of port capacity	38, 41
Updates on specific rail projects	38–42, 44
National access regimes	38
National Freight Strategy	38–39

T.C	10
Infrastructure needs for regional Australia	42
Water policy - security, supply and quality	42
Publication restrictions for State and Territories' submissions	42–43
Procedures involved in processing submissions	43
Analysis of equity contributions compared to conditional	44
grants	
Commonwealth and State funding for public transport	44
projects	
Modelling of future oil costs	44–45
Perth airport transport master plan	46
Major road projects around Perth	46–47
Upgrade of the Great Eastern Highway from Kooyong Road	47
to the Tonkin	
Nation Building – Infrastructure Investment	47–107
Outback Highway	47–50, 78
Plenty Highway	49, 80
Roads to Recovery projects	49
17 rail projects within the National Building Economic	50-52
Stimulus Plan	
Variations in original plans for projects and criteria involved	52
in changing them	
Commonwealth funding for ARTC projects	53–54
Funding for the rail economic stimulus plan & detailed	53–54
expenditure	
Hunter Valley-Liverpool Range new rail alignment	54, 88–89
Hunter Valley-Minimbah Bank third rail line	54
Rail production within mining-dependent areas	54–55
Staffing numbers	55
Total funding for: the Nation Building Program, Nation	55
Building Black Spot projects, Nation Building heavy Vehicle	
Safety and Productivity, Nation Building Roads to Recovery,	
Nation Building Off-Network Projects and Nation Building	
Plan for the Future.	
Commonwealth contributions for Building Australia Fund	56, 60–61, 72–73
projects	,
Monitoring of expenditure within projects	57
West Metro project in Sydney	57–59
Gold Coast light rail project	59–60
Commonwealth conditional grants	60
New England Highway	61
Access issues for emergency services	61–62
Black Spot Program	62–63, 74, 84
ANAO Audit report No. 31 2009-10: Performance audit:	63–64
Management of the AusLink Roads to Recovery Program	
Procedure of payments for Roads to Recovery	63–64

Project milestones	64–65
Commonwealth funding to the ARTC	66, 73
Costing calculations for specific projects	67–68
Resource state infrastructure fund	68–70
Moorebank intermodal terminal	71
National infrastructure pipeline	71
Organisational structure of the Major Cities Unit	72
Road projects in regional Australia & relevant funding	74–76, 78–80
The Kings Road/Calder Highway interchange in Victoria	74
The Princes Highway from Waurn Ponds to Winchelsea,	74
Victoria	, .
The Dampier Highway duplication between Balmoral Road	74, 81
West in Karratha and Burrup Road in Dampier	, ,, 01
The Great Eastern Highway and Roe Highway interchange	74
programs north-east of Perth	, .
The Great Northern Highway realignment at Port Hedland	74
Work on the Cardwell Range crossing	74–75
The Cooroy to Curra major project	74–75
Funding commitments for the Bruce Highway	75–76
The Gairloch Floodway	75
The Townsville Port Access Road	76
Bruce Highway improvements from Benaraby to	79
Rockhampton and from Rockhampton to St Lawrence	1)
The accelerated Victoria Highway upgrade package	80
The AusLink network widening and rehabilitation	80
Tiger Brennan Drive	80
Improved flood immunity, road safety and productivity on the	80
Northern Territory highways	00
Overtaking lanes on the Stuart Highway between Katherine	80
and Darwin	00
The Buntine Highway	80
Upgrade of the Tanami Road	80, 99
Upgrade of the Maryvale Road and Hugh River Stock Route	80–81
AECOM study addressing flood immunity, road capacity and	80
freight movement	00
High-level bridge over the McArthur River at Borroloola	81
Improving flood immunity on the Port Keats Road	81
Upgrade of the Central Arnhem Road	81
Katherine heavy vehicle bypass	81
Stuart Highway - new high-level bridges over the Cullen	81
River and King River; rail overpass south of Alice Springs	01
Northern Territory Program	80–81
Queensland Program	81–83
Western Australia Program	81–83
Queensland Main Roads	83

Overagland Matamyraya I to	92
Queensland Motorways Ltd	83
Single national rail regulator	83
Location of host jurisdictions for regulatory reforms	83
Jubilee Bridge	83–87
National Highway	84
Bruce Highway	81, 84
Funding for emergency infrastructure	87–88
Commonwealth funding for transport in 2010-11 and	89–90
following years	
Pacific Highway	90–92
Hunter Expressway	92–93
The Princes Highway east from Traralgon to Sale	93
The Red Centre Way in the Northern Territory	93
Northern Sydney Rail Freight Corridor/Northern Sydney	94–95
Freight Corridor	
Hawkesbury River National Park	95
Clyde Road, Berwick upgrade	96–97
Criteria needed to redirect project funding	97
North West Roads/Investment Coordination	98–100
Great Northern Highway	99–100
Stretch of road between Kalgoorlie and the Pilbara	100
Bunbury Port Access Road stage 1 and 2	101–102
Adelaide Hills rail alignment & rail freight movement study	102–103
Public transport in Canberra for public servants operating	103–105
within the Parliamentary triangle	
Closure of Broadmeadow facility near Newcastle	105–106
M5 expansion	106–107
Infrastructure and Surface Transport Policy	107–124
Vehicle design standards	108–109
Importation of electric vehicles	108–109
Assessment of oil price vulnerability	109
National transport regulator	109–110
Australian Transport Council	110, 112–113
Heavy vehicle driver fatigue laws	110–112
National strategy on energy efficiency	112–113
Casual and attribution data on heavy vehicle accidents and	113–114
fatalities	
Young driver education initiatives	114–115
Flexibility of driving hours for truck drivers	115–116
Driving instruction in comparison to the aviation industry	116–117
Shipping policy	117–118
Tasmanian Freight Equalisation Scheme	118–123
Importation of vehicles under the pre-1989 vehicle import	123
scheme	1-2
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	<u> </u>

<b>Australian Maritime Safety Authority</b>	124–132
Compensation scheme for victims of oil pollution	124
Montara oil spill	124–125
Dispersants used in oil spills and their toxicity levels	124–127, 129
Update on a vessel grounding in the Torres Strait	124–125
Satellite imagery used to determine extent of oil spills	127–128
Samples taken to determine origin of oil in spills	127
Issuance of new marine orders part 54, MO54	127–128
Vessel tracking system	128
National plan and role of environment science coordinator	128–129
and appointment of environmental liaison officer	
Antifouling paint regulations	129–130
National Maritime Safety Plan	130–131
Staffing levels	131–132
Policy and Research	132–134
Staffing levels	132
Research projects	132
Black Spot Program	132–133
Transport and greenhouse gas emissions	133
Figures on road death causes	133–134

## Thursday 27 May 2010

Division/Agency and Topic	Proof Hansard page reference
<b>Local Government and Regional Development</b>	3–24
Better Regions Program and specific projects	3–12, 16
Handling of election commitments	5, 8–10
Independent viability assessments for projects	6
Alternative arrangements for projects not viable under the	11–12
Better Regions Program	
Regional Development Australia	13-16
Department support for the Minister for Population	16–17
Australian Council of Local Government	17
Australian Centre of Excellence for Local Government	18
Local Government Reform Fund	18–19
Australian Local Government Association	19–20
Financial Assistance Grants	20–23
Regional and Local Community Infrastructure Program	23–24
Office of Northern Australia	24–50
Staffing and organisational structure	24–25, 27–30
Specific projects of the East Kimberley Development Package	25–27, 30–38
Initiatives of the Office of Northern Australia	25–27
Northern Australia Land and Water Taskforce	29, 40–42

Cairns development plan	29–30
ABARE conferences	30
Commonwealth and State funding contributions	32–35
Tender process for housing and other projects	36–37
Regional Development Australia committees	38–39
Wild Rivers Legislation	42
Sitting fees for taskforce members	43
Recommendations from the Land and Water Taskforce report	43–44
Leak of the report to the Australian	45
Feasibility study on the Mount Isa railway line	47
Modelling on the impact of a mining super tax	47–48
North Australia council	49
Aviation and Airports	50–64
Compulsory passenger and baggage screening	50–51, 54
Consultation processes and requirements for airports	51–53
Sydney Airport Community Forum funding and staffing	53
arrangements	
Communication between operators of privately owned	53–54
airstrips	
Remote Aviation Infrastructure Fund	54
Brisbane airport steering committee	54–55
Possibilities of a curfew at Brisbane Airport	55–56
Community submissions regarding airport curfews	57
Residential areas and their distance from airports	58
Guidelines administering the dispensations for curfew	58–59
movements	
Landing details of the Prime Minister's VIP plane	59
Sydney Airport Master Plan	60–61
Study into the expansion of the M5	61
Public transport access to airports	61
Possibilities of a fast rail connection	61–62
Health study of residents affected by aircraft noise	63
Future aviation needs and the possibility of a replacement	63
airport in Sydney	
Airservices Australia	64–75
New satellite-based system for arrival and departure flight	64–66
paths	
Joint operational concept between Airservices Australia and	66–68
RAAF	
Costings of Wide Area Multilateration	67
Rebuilding process of communications systems	68
Development of and duties for the Noise Ombudsman	69–72, 74–75
Statistics on noise complaints and comparison of airports	72–73
Aircraft operated by the defence department	74
Air Traffic Management progress	75

Civil Aviation Safety Authority	75–102
Community concerns of air traffic noise	75
Steps taken to improve air safety	75–78
Future planning for strategic transport	79
Urban encroachment around airports	79
Categories of different airfields	81
Regulatory requirements around the operation of historic	81
aircraft	
Flying neighbourly program	82
Industry Complaints Commissioner	82–84
Ethics and Conduct Committee	83–84, 97
Possibility of an investigation into MacAir	84–85
Recommendations in relation to OzJet	85–86
Air operators certificate requirements	85–86
Procedures of investigation of complaints	87
Commonwealth Ombudsman	87–88
Administrative Appeals Tribunal merits reviews	88
Investigation processes of near misses	88–89
Aviation security identity card	89–91
Maritime security identification card	90–91
Application of regulations currently before Parliament	90–91
Staffing levels	91
Flight deck duty times	92–95, 97
Fatigue risk management systems	93–95
Requirements under civil aviation orders	95
Safety regulations for charter flights and investigation process	97–102
for possible breaches of these regulations	
Access to cock pits	102
Office of Transport Security	102–119
Compulsory passenger and baggage screening and	102–107
consultation process	103–107
Funding for security upgrades to airports	106–107
Security risk assessments  Aviation Transport Security Amondment Regulations	
Aviation Transport Security Amendment Regulations	107–108
Access to cockpits under proposed security regulations	108–110, 112–113, 116
Australian Endaral Police investigation into a security	110–112
Australian Federal Police investigation into a security company	110-112
Maritime safety identification cards	113–114
Aviation security identification cards	115-116
Privacy Commissioner's involvement in body scanners roll-	117
out	11/
Overseas experience in using body scanners	118–119
Australian Transport Safety Bureau	119–123
Funding for national investigation framework for rail and	119
runding for national investigation framework for rail and	119

maritime safety	
Progress on transport reforms	119–120
Vehicle regulations	120–121
Difference between Australian Design Rules and what can be	121
done to a vehicle after the first compliance point	
Safety of a passenger getting on and off a bus	121
Updates on flights that have lost altitude	121–122
Staffing levels	122–123